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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
EASTERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

ALEXANDER NAYBERG on behalf of himself and
all other similarly situated consumers

Plaintiff, Case No.
-against-
FINANCIAL RECOVERY SERVICES, INC

Defendant.

CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT
Introduction

1. Plaintiff, Alexander Nayberg, brings this action against Financial Recovery Services Inc
for violations of the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1692, et seq.
(“FDCPA”). The FDCPA prohibits debt collectors from engaging in abusive, deceptive
and unfair collection practices while attempting to collect on debts.

Parties

2. Plaintiff is a citizen of the State of New York who resides within this District.

3. Plaintiff is a consumer as that term is defined by Section 1692(a)(3) of the FDCPA, in
that the alleged debt that Defendant sought to collect from Plaintiff a consumer debt.

4. Upon information and belief, Defendant's principal place of business is located in
Minneapolis, Minnesota.

5. Defendant is regularly engaged, for profit, in the collection of debts allegedly owed by
consumers.

6. Defendant is a “debt collector” as that term is defined by the FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. §
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1692(a)(6).
Jurisdiction and Venue

This Court has federal question jurisdiction under 15 U.S.C. § 1692k(d) and 28 U.S.C. §
1331.
Venue is proper in this district pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b), as the acts and
transactions that give rise to this action occurred, in substantial part, in this district.

Allegations Particular to Alexander Nayberg
Upon information and belief, on a date better known by Defendant, Defendant began to
attempt to collect an alleged consumer debt from the Plaintiff.
On or about January 24", 2017 Defendant sent the Plaintiff a collection letter.
The said letter was an effort to collect on a defaulted consumer debt.
15 U.S.C. § 1692g provides that within five days after the initial communication with a
consumer in connection with the collection of any debt, a debt collector shall, unless the
information is contained in the initial communication or the consumer has paid the debt,
send the consumer a written notice containing certain enumerated information.
One such requirement is that the debt collector provide “the amount of the debt.” 15
U.S.C. § 1692g(a)(1).
A debt collector has the obligation not just to convey the amount of the debt, but to
convey such clearly.
15 U.S.C. § 16929 requires debt collectors to inform debtors of their account balance
and to disclose whether the balance may increase due to interest and fees. Avila v.

Riexinger Associates, LLC, 817 F.3d 72, 76 (2d Cir. 2016).

Defendant’s collection letter violated 15 U.S.C. 8 16929 by failing to include the safe
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harbor language set out in Avila v. Riexinger Associates, LLC, 817 F.3d 72, 76 (2d Cir.

2016).

An unsophisticated consumer would be left uncertain by the said letter as to whether the

said account was accruing interest and/or fees or not.

Pursuant to section 5001 of New York Civil Practice Law and Rules, a creditor shall
recover prejudgment interest "upon a sum awarded because of a breach of performance
of a contract.” N.Y. C.P.L.R. § 5001(a); see also Rhodes v. Davis, 628 Fed. Appx. 787,
794 (2d Cir. 2015). (Under New York Law, "[i]nterest is generally mandatory "upon a
sum awarded because of a breach of performance of a contract . . . ." (citing Id.
§5001(a))).

Section 5004 sets the rate of prejudgment interest at nine percent. N.Y. C.P.L.R. § 5004.
When calculating the interest due, it "shall be computed from the earliest ascertainable
date the cause of action existed.” Id. § 5001(b).

"In New York, a breach of contract cause of action accrues at the time of the breach.”
Ely-Cruikshank Co. v. Bank of Montreal, 81 N.Y.2d 399, 402, 615 N.E.2d 985, 599
N.Y.S.2d 501 (1993) (citations omitted).

"New York law provides that "[i]nterest shall be recovered upon a sum awarded because
of a breach of performance of a contract,” N.Y. C.P.L.R. 8 5001(a), and that interest is to
be computed "from the earliest date the cause of action existed,” N.Y. C.P.L.R. §
5001(b), at the rate of nine percent per annum, N.Y. C.P.L.R. § 5004. Accordingly,
Plaintiffs are entitled to prejudgment interest on the installments that were not timely
paid." Kasperek v. City Wire Works, Inc., No. 03 CV 3986 (RML), 2009 U.S. Dist.

LEXIS 19803, at *8 (E.D.N.Y. Mar. 12, 2009).
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15 U.S.C. 8§ 1692e provides:

A debt collector may not use any false, deceptive, or misleading

representation or means in connection with the collection of any debt.

Without limiting the general application of the foregoing, the following

conduct is a violation of this section:

(2) The false representation of —

the character, amount, or legal status of any debt; or

(10) the use of any false representation or deceptive means to collect or

attempt to collect any debt or to obtain information concerning a

consumer.
The “BALANCE DUE” in this case was for an amount that included original principal
and contractual interest. Collection notices that state only the “BALANCE DUE,” but do
not disclose that the balance might increase due to interest “misleading” within the
meaning of Section 1692e.
The Plaintiff was left uncertain as to whether the “BALANCE DUE” was accruing
interest as there was no disclosure that indicated otherwise.
The Plaintiff was left unsure whether the “BALANCE DUE” would accrue any type of
interest as there was no disclosure that indicated otherwise.
To the extent that the Creditor or Defendant intended to waive the automatically accrued
and accruing interest, it was required to disclose that in the most conspicuous of terms.
Defendant was required to include a disclosure that automatically accrued interest was
accruing, or in the alternative, the creditor has made an intentional decision to waive the
automatically accruing interest, yet it did not make any of those disclosures in violation
of 1692e.

Failure to disclose such a waiver of the automatically accrued interest is in of itself

deceptive and “misleading” within the meaning of Section 1692e.



29.

30.

31.

32.

33.

34.

35.

36.

Case 1:17-cv-00909 Document 1 Filed 02/17/17 Page 5 of 13 PagelD #: 5

Defendant knew that the balance would increase due to interest.

“Applying these principles, we hold that Plaintiffs have stated a claim that the collection
notices at issue here are misleading within the meaning of Section 1692e... a consumer
who pays the “current balance™ stated on the notice will not know whether the debt has
been paid in full.” Avila v. Riexinger & Assocs., LLC, Nos. 15-1584(L), 15-1597(Con),
2016 U.S. App. LEXIS 5327, at *10-11 (2d Cir. Mar. 22, 2016)

The Plaintiff and the unsophisticated consumer would be led to believe that the
“BALANCE DUE” would remain as is and that paying the amount due would satisfy the
debt irrespective of when payment was remitted.

Absent a disclosure by the holder of the debt that the automatic interest is waived, the
Defendant and or the creditor could still seek the automatic interest . . . , or sell the
consumer’s debt to a third party, which itself could seek the interest and from the
consumer. Avila, at *10-11.

A debt-collector must disclose that interest is accruing, or in the alternative, it disclose
any such waiver.

Waiver of interest even when made explicitly, has not prevented debt-collectors from
continuing to illegally charge the waived interest, at the bare minimum a debt collector
must make clear to the least sophisticated consumer that it intends to waive the interest.
A consumer who pays the “BALANCE DUE” stated on the collection letter will be left
unsure whether the debt has been paid in full, as the Defendant could still collect on any
interest accumulated after the letters were sent but before the balance was paid.
Defendant violated 15 U.S.C. 8§ 1692e, 1692e(2) and 1692e(10) for misrepresenting the

amount of the debt owed by the Plaintiff.
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Defendant's letter is in violation of 15 U.S.C. 88 1692e, 1692¢(2) and 1692¢(10) of the
FDCPA for the use of any false representation or deceptive means to collect or attempt
to collect any debt and for misrepresenting the amount of the debt owed by the Plaintiff.
15 U.S.C. 8 1692f provides a debt collector may not use unfair or unconscionable means
to collect or attempt to collect any debt. 15 U.S.C. § 1692f(1) prohibits the collection of
any amount, including any interest, fee, charge, or expense incidental to the debt, unless
such amount is expressly authorized by the agreement creating the debt or permitted by
law.

U.S.C. § 1692e prohibits a debt collector from using any false, deceptive, or misleading
representations or means in connection with the collection of any debt. 15 U.S.C. §
1692¢(2)(A) prohibits the false representation of the character, amount, or legal status of
any debt. 15 U.S.C. 8 1692e(2)(B) prohibits the false representation of any services
rendered or compensation that may be lawfully received by any debt collector for the
collection of a debt.

The January 24", 2017 letter states “Cost Balance.”

The “Cost Balance” is listed as “$0.00.”

The least sophisticated consumer would likely be deceived by the “Cost Balance”
language into believing that Defendant was legally entitled to collect non-interest
charges or fees.

Defendant’s collection letter violated § 1692f and 8§ 1692e by making a false
representation that it is entitled to receive compensation for payment via a “Cost
Balance” thereby using false, deceptive and misleading representations in its attempt to

collect a debt.



44,

45.

46.

47.

48.

49.

50.

51.

52.

53.

Case 1:17-cv-00909 Document 1 Filed 02/17/17 Page 7 of 13 PagelD #: 7

The said letter is a standardized form letter.

On information and belief, the Defendant’s collection letter, numbers in the hundreds.
Plaintiff suffered injury in fact by being subjected to unfair and abusive practices of the
Defendant.

Plaintiff suffered actual harm by being the target of the Defendant's misleading debt
collection communications.

Defendant violated the Plaintiff's right not to be the target of misleading debt collection
communications.

Defendant violated the Plaintiff's right to a truthful and fair debt collection process.
Defendant used materially false, deceptive, misleading representations and means in its
attempted collection of Plaintiff's alleged debt.

Defendant's communications were designed to cause the debtor to suffer a harmful
disadvantage in charting a course of action in response to the Defendant's collection
efforts.

The FDCPA ensures that consumers are fully and truthfully apprised of the facts and of
their rights, the act enables them to understand, make informed decisions about, and
participate fully and meaningfully in the debt collection process. The purpose of the
FDCPA is to provide information that helps consumers to choose intelligently. The
Defendant's false representations misled the Plaintiff in a manner that deprived him of
his right to enjoy these benefits, these materially misleading statements trigger liability
under section 1692e of the Act.

These deceptive communications additionally violated the FDCPA since they frustrate

the consumer’s ability to intelligently choose his or her response.
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Plaintiff seeks to end these violations of the FDCPA. Plaintiff has suffered damages
including but not limited to, fear, stress, mental anguish, emotional stress and acute
embarrassment. Plaintiff and putative class members are entitled to preliminary and
permanent injunctive relief, including, declaratory relief, and damages.

CLASS ALLEGATIONS
This action is brought as a class action. Plaintiff brings this action on behalf of himself
and on behalf of all other persons similarly situated pursuant to Rule 23 of the Federal
Rules of Civil Procedure.
The identities of all class members are readily ascertainable from the records of
Financial Recovery Services, Inc and those business and governmental entities on whose
behalf it attempts to collect debts.
Excluded from the Plaintiff's Class is the Defendant and all officers, members, partners,
managers, directors, and employees of Financial Recovery Services, Inc, and all of their
respective immediate families, and legal counsel for all parties to this action and all
members of their immediate families.
There are questions of law and fact common to the Plaintiff's Class, which common
issues predominate over any issues involving only individual class members. The
principal issues are whether the Defendant's communications with the Plaintiff, such as
the above stated claims, violate provisions of the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act.
The Plaintiff's claims are typical of the class members, as all are based upon the same
facts and legal theories.
The Plaintiff will fairly and adequately protect the interests of the Plaintiff's Class

defined in this complaint. The Plaintiff has retained counsel with experience in handling
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consumer lawsuits, complex legal issues, and class actions, and neither the Plaintiff nor

his attorneys have any interests, which might cause them not to vigorously pursue this

action.

This action has been brought, and may properly be maintained, as a class action pursuant

to the provisions of Rule 23 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure because there is a

well-defined community interest in the litigation:

(a)

(b)

(©)

(d)

Numerosity: The Plaintiff is informed and believes, and on that basis
alleges, that the Plaintiff's Class defined above is so numerous that joinder of
all members would be impractical.

Common_Questions Predominate: Common questions of law and fact

exist as to all members of the Plaintiff's Class and those questions
predominate over any questions or issues involving only individual class
members. The principal issues are whether the Defendant's communications
with the Plaintiff, such as the above stated claims, violate provisions of the
Fair Debt Collection Practices Act.

Typicality: The Plaintiff's claims are typical of the claims of the class
members. Plaintiff and all members of the Plaintiff's Class defined in
this complaint have claims arising out of the Defendant's common uniform
course of conduct complained of herein.

Adequacy: The Plaintiff will fairly and adequately protect the interests
of the class members insofar as Plaintiff has no interests that are adverse to
the absent class members. The Plaintiff is committed to vigorously

litigating this matter. Plaintiff has also retained counsel experienced in
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(€)

handling consumer lawsuits, complex legal issues, and class actions.
Neither the Plaintiff nor his counsel have any interests, which might cause
them not to vigorously pursue the instant class action lawsuit.

Superiority: A class action is superior to the other available means for
the fair and efficient adjudication of this controversy because individual
joinder of all members would be impracticable. Class action treatment
will permit a large number of similarly situated persons to prosecute their
common claims in a single forum efficiently and without unnecessary
duplication of effort and expense that individual actions would engender.
Certification of a class under Rule 23(b)(l)(A) of the Federal Rules of Civil
Procedure is appropriate because adjudications with respect to individual
members create a risk of inconsistent or varying adjudications which could
establish incompatible standards of conduct for Defendant who, on
information and belief, collects debts throughout the United States of

America.

Certification of a class under Rule 23(b)(2) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure is

also appropriate in that a determination that the above stated claims, violate provisions

of the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act, and is tantamount to declaratory relief and any

monetary relief under the FDCPA would be merely incidental to that determination.

Certification of a class under Rule 23(b)(3) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure is

also appropriate in that the questions of law and fact common to members of the

Plaintiff's Class predominate over any questions affecting an individual member, and a

-10-
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class action is superior to other available methods for the fair and efficient adjudication
of the controversy.
Further, Defendant has acted, or failed to act, on grounds generally applicable to the
Rule (b)(D(A) and (b)(2) Class, thereby making appropriate final injunctive relief with
respect to the Class as a whole.
Depending on the outcome of further investigation and discovery, Plaintiff may, at the
time of class certification motion, seek to certify one or more classes only as to
particular issues pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(c)(4).
FIRST COUNT
Violation of 15 U.S.C. § 1692¢
Failure to Adequately Convey the Amount of the Debt
Plaintiff repeats, reiterates, and incorporates the allegations contained in paragraphs
numbered one (1) through sixty five (65) herein with the same force and effect is if the
same were set forth at length herein.
This cause of action is brought on behalf of Plaintiff and the members of a class. The
class involves all individuals whom Defendant's records reflect resided in the State of
New York and who were sent a collection letter in substantially the same form letter as
the letter sent to the Plaintiff on or about January 24", 2017; and (a) the collection letter
was sent to a consumer seeking payment of a personal debt; and (b) the collection letter
was not returned by the postal service as undelivered; and (c) the Plaintiff asserts that
the letter contained violations of 15 U.S.C. 88 1692g of the FDCPA as it failed to
clearly, explicitly and unambiguously convey the amount of the debt.
SECOND COUNT

Violation of 15 U.S.C. § 1692e
False or Misleading Representations

-11-
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Plaintiff repeats, reiterates, and incorporates the allegations contained in paragraphs
numbered one (1) through sixty seven (67) herein with the same force and effect is if the
same were set forth at length herein.
This cause of action is brought on behalf of Plaintiff and the members of a class.
The class involves all individuals whom Defendant's records reflect resided in the State
of New York and who were sent a collection letter in substantially the same form letter
as the letter sent to the Plaintiff on or about January 24", 2017; and (a) the collection
letter was sent to a consumer seeking payment of a personal debt; and (b) the collection
letter was not returned by the postal service as undelivered; and (c) the Plaintiff asserts
that the letter contained violations of 15 U.S.C. 88 1692e of the FDCPA by using a false,
deceptive and misleading representation in its attempt to collect a debt.
THIRD COUNT
Violation of 15 U.S.C. § 1692f and § 1692¢
False or Misleading Representations
Plaintiff repeats, reiterates, and incorporates the allegations contained in paragraphs
numbered one (1) through seventy (70) herein with the same force and effect is if the
same were set forth at length herein.
This cause of action is brought on behalf of Plaintiff and the members of a class.
The class involves all individuals whom Defendant's records reflect resided in the State
of New York and who were sent a collection letter in substantially the same form letter
as the letter sent to the Plaintiff on or about January 24", 2017; and (a) the collection
letter was sent to a consumer seeking payment of a personal debt; and (b) the collection
letter was not returned by the postal service as undelivered; and (c) the Plaintiff asserts

that the letter contained violations of 15 U.S.C. 88 1692f and § 1692e by charging or

-12-
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attempting to charge non-interest charges or fees.
Violations of the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act
74.  The Defendant's actions as set forth above in the within complaint violates the Fair Debt
Collection Practices Act.
75.  Because the Defendant violated the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act, the Plaintiff and
the members of the class are entitled to damages in accordance with the Fair Debt
Collection Practices Act.
WHEREFORE, Plaintiff, respectfully requests preliminary and permanent injunctive relief, and that
this Court enter judgment in Plaintiff's favor and against the Defendant and award damages as follows:
@ Statutory damages provided under the FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. § 1692(k);
(b) Attorney fees, litigation expenses and costs incurred in bringing this action; and
(© Any other relief that this Court deems appropriate and just under the
circumstances.

Dated: Brooklyn, New York
February 17, 2017

/s/ Igor Litvak
Igor Litvak, Esq.
Attorneys for the Plaintiff
The Litvak Law Firm, PLLC
1701 Avenue P
Brooklyn, New York 11229
Office: (718) 989-2908
Facsimile: (718) 989-2908
E-mail: Igor@LitvakLawNY.com

Plaintiff requests trial by jury on all issues so triable.

/s/ Igor Litvak
Igor Litvak, Esqg.

-13-
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“MENT REDUCTION OEFE!

As of the date of this notice you owe $12290.46. We arc anthorized to scitlc the above Tisied accouni(s) al a substantial reduction 1o you and help you get rid of this debt!!! Arc
you receiving 4 tax refund? You cun save a bundic and ¢ get rid of this debt.

With tax refund scason now here, we are now offering this savings 10 you,

“**[o you want to receive a significant reduction on this account and get rid of this debt?
% pon approval, we may be able to sproad this special reduction out via monthly payments (o help you take advantage of the reduction and sl keep it-in vour budgef.

Don't delay, this offer will expire and we are not obligated to renew any offers. You need to respond to take advantage of this incredible offer, Please call our office to find out the
detasis and o determine what kind of arrangements might be available fo you. We are willing fo listen 1o any offers you may wish to make but you need to call us soon. We will
cven consider taking the reduced settfement over a payment plan.

This sctilement may have tax consequences. Please consult your tax advisor. FRS is not a law firm and FRS will ot initiate any Jegal proceedings or provide you with legal advice,
The offers of settiement in this letier are merely 0ffets to resolve your account for Tess than the balance due,

For assistance, please feel free to call us at the toll free number listed below or use our online consumer help desk.  FRS now accepts semc-forms of payment online at
www.fin-receom. See your enline acecss PIN above. I vou are sending your payment by overnight delivery, please use the following address: 4310 W. 77th St, Suite 200, Edina,
MN 55435

Smcercly

COREY KEVITTE

Account Manager
Toll Free:: 1-866-415-2399

This is an atiempt (o collect a debt. Any information obtained will be used for that purpesc. This communication is from a-debt collector: See reverse side for important
information. Office hours are” Monday-Thursday, 7am to 8pm: Friday 7am to Spmy; Saturday 7am 1o noon. See reverse side for more information.

See reverse side for important information.

10F3 L20F3 L30F3
RS File - 10 { PR vile 4 [EEROT0 $FRS File 4: -ﬂm

O O O L VR A O

1-866-415-2399 £ 1-866-415-2399 £ 1-866-415-2399

Current Balanee: $12290.46 i Current Balance: $12290.46 Current Balanee: $12190.46

Amountenclosed: R Amourt epclosed: f;i\moum enclosed:

Hame phone: o vamnr; phone: - } ';Hf;me phone: - -
Warkphone:  iworkphowe iworkphone:_
Celiphone: . . ... ... GCeiphone: . iCelphene: . .
Financial Recovery Services, Ine. Financial Recovery Scrviees, Inc. ‘ Financial Recovery Services, Inc.

P.O. Box 385908 P.O. Box 385908 I PO, Box 385908

Minncapobis, MIN 55438-5908 : Minncapolis, MN 35438-5508 ; Minncapolis, MN 53438-3908

Letter Code Sent: 851 Letier Code Sent: 051 Letter Code Sent: 051
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We are required under ceriain Stale and Local Laws to nofify consumers of those States or Localities of the following rights. This list does
not contain a complete list of the rights consumers have under Federal, State, or Local Laws.

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION FOR CALIFORNIA RESIDENTS
The state Rosenthal Fair Debt Collection Practices Act and the federal Fair Debt Collection Practices Act require that, except under unusual
circumstances, collectors may not contact you before 8 a.m. or after § p.m. They may not harass you by using threats of violence or arrest or by using
obscene language. Collectors may not use false or misleading statements or call you at work if they know or have reason io know thal you may not
receive personal calls ai work. For the most pant, collectors may not tell ancther person, other than your attomey or spouse, about your debt.
Collectors may contact another person to confirm your location or enforce a judgment. For more information about debt collection activities, you may
contact the Federal Trade Commission at 1-877-FTC-HELP or www.fic.gov.

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION FOR COLORADO RESIDENTS
FOR INFORMATION ABOUT THE COLORADO FAIR DEBT COLLECTION PRACTICES ACT, SEE WWW.COAG.GOV/CAR

COLORADOC OFFICE LOCATION: 27 NORTH WILLERUP, SUITE B, MONTROSE, CO 81401
LOCAL PHONE: 970-249-7514 TOLL-FREE PHONE: 1-866-436-4766

A CONSUMER HAS THE RIGHT TO REQUEST IN WRITING THAT A DEBT COLLECTOR OR COLLECTION AGENCY CEASE FURTHER
COMMUNICATIONS WiTH THE CONSUMER. A WRITTEN REQUEST TO CEASE COMMUNICATION WILL NOT PROHIBIT THE DEBT
COLLECTOR OR COLLECTION AGENCY FROM TAKING ANY OTHER ACTION AUTHORIZED BY LAW TO COLLECT THE DEBT.

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION FOR MASSACHUSETTS RESIDENTS
if you wish to discuss this matter, please call us direct, between the hours of 8 am. and 5 p.m. CST, at the number listed on the front of this notice.
Massachusetts resident office address is: 43 Winter St, Weymouth, MA 02188 with office hours: M-Th 10am-3pm.

NOTICE OF IMPORTANT RIGHTS: YOU HAVE THE RIGHT TC MAKE A WRITTEN OR ORAL REQUEST THAT TELEPHONE CALLS REGARDING
YOUR DEBT NOT BE MADE TO YOU AT YOUR PLACE OF EMPLOYMENT. ANY SUCH ORAL REQUEST WILL BE VALID FOR ONLY TEN DAYS
UNLESS YOU PROVIDE WRITTEN CONFIRMATION OF THE REQUEST POSTMARKED OR DELIVERED WITHIN SEVEN DAYS OF SUCH
REQUEST. YOU MAY TERMINATE THIS REQUEST BY WRITING TO THE DEBT COLLECTOR.

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION FOR MINNESOTA RESIDENTS
THIS COLLECTION AGENCY IS LICENSED BY THE MINNESOTA DEPARTMENT OF COMMERCE.

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION FOR NEW YORK CITY RESIDENTS
This collection agency is licensed by the New York City Depariment of Consumer Affairs. The license number is 1015506.

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION FOR NORTH CAROCLINA RESIDENTS
North Carolina Depariment of Insurance permit number: 3917.

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION FOR TENNESSEE RESIDENTS
This collection agency is licensed by the Collection Service Board of the State Depariment of Commerce and insurance.

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION FOR WISCONSIN RESIDENTS
This collection agency is licensed by the Division of Banking in the Wisconsin Depariment of Financial Institutions, www.wdfi.org.

NOTICE YO ALL CONSUMERS
Our siaff is trained to conduct themselves in a businessiike and professional manner, and to leave you with a positive experience in dealing with our
Company. Hf you have a complaini, criticism, suggestion, or compliment about the way we are collecting this debt, please write to us at P.O. Box
385808, Minneapolis, MN 55438-5308, email us af compliance @fin-rec.com, submit on-line at www fin-rec.com, or call us toll-free at (B66) 438-2860
between 9am and 5pm CST Monday-Friday.

Federal Law prohibils certain methods of debt collection, and requires that we treat you fairly. You can stop us from contacting you by writing a letter to
us that tells us to stop contact or that you refuse to pay the debt. Sending such a letter does not make the debt go away if you owe it. Once we receive
your letter, we may not contact you again, except to let you know that there won't be any more contact or that we inlend to take a specific action.

When you provide a check as payment, you authorize us either to use information from your check to make a one-time efectronic fund transfer from
your account or to process the payment as a check transaction.

FRS051-0123-823055705-03504-3904
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
EASTERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

ALEXANDER NAYBERG on behalf of himself and
all other similarly situated consumers

Plaintiff, Case No.
-against-
FINANCIAL RECOVERY SERVICES, INC

Defendant.

SUMMONS IN A CIVIL ACTION

TO:  FINANCIAL RECOVERY SERVICES, INC
4510 WEST 77 STREET, SUITE. 200
EDINA, MN. 55435

YOU ARE HEREBY SUMMONED and required to file with the Clerk of this Court
and serve upon PLAINTIFF’S ATTORNEY:

IGOR B. LITVAK, ESQ.

THE LITVAK LAW FIRM, PLLC
1701 AVENUE P

BROOKLYN, NEW YORK 11229

an answer to the complaint which is herewith served upon you, with 21 days after service of this
summons upon you, exclusive of the day of service. If you fail to do so, judgment by default will
be taken against you for the relief demanded in the complaint.

CLERK DATE

BY DEPUTY CLERK
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The JS 44 civil cover sheet and the information contained herein neither replace nor supplement the filing and service of pleadings or other papers as required by law, except as
provided by local rules of court. This form, approved by the Judicial Conference of the United States in September 1974, is required for the use of the Clerk of Court for the
purpose of initiating the civil docket sheet. (SEE INSTRUCTIONS ON NEXT PAGE OF THIS FORM.)
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CERTIFICATION OF ARBITRATION ELIGIBILITY

Local Arbitration Rule 83.10 provides that with certain exceptions, actions seeking money damages only in an amount not in excess of $150,000,
exclusive of interest and costs, are eligible for compulsory arbitration. The amount of damages is presumed to be below the threshold amount unless a
certification to the contrary is filed.

I, nA , counsel for , do hereby certify that the above captioned civil action is
ineligible for compulsory arbitration for the following reason(s):

(o monetary damages sought are in excess of $150,000, exclusive of interest and costs,
O the complaint seeks injunctive relief,
O the matter is otherwise ineligible for the following reason

DISCLOSURE STATEMENT - FEDERAL RULES CIVIL PROCEDURE 7.1

Identify any parent corporation and any publicly held corporation that owns 10% or more or its stocks:

N/A

RELATED CASE STATEMENT (Section VIII on the Front of this Form)

Please list all cases that are arguably related pursuant to Division of Business Rule 50.3.1 in Section VIII on the front of this form. Rule 50.3.1 (a)
provides that “A civil case is “related” to another civil case for purposes of this guideline when, because of the similarity of facts and legal issues or
because the cases arise from the same transactions or events, a substantial saving of judicial resources is likely to result from assigning both cases to the
same judge and magistrate judge.” Rule 50.3.1 (b) provides that “ A civil case shall not be deemed “related” to another civil case merely because the civil
case: (A) involves identical legal issues, or (B) involves the same parties.” Rule 50.3.1 (c) further provides that “Presumptively, and subject to the power
of a judge to determine otherwise pursuant to paragraph (d), civil cases shall not be deemed to be “related” unless both cases are still pending before the
court.”

NY-E DIVISION OF BUSINESS RULE 50.1(d)(2)

1.) Is the civil action being filed in the Eastern District removed from a New York State Court located in Nassau or Suffolk
County: No

2.) If you answered “no” above:
a) Did the events or omissions giving rise to the claim or claims, or a substantial part thereof, occur in Nassau or Suffolk
County? No

b) Did the events or omissions giving rise to the claim or claims, or a substantial part thereof, occur in the Eastern
District? Yes

If your answer to question 2 (b) is “No,” does the defendant (or a majority of the defendants, if there is more than one) reside in Nassau or

Suffolk County, or, in an interpleader action, does the claimant (or a majority of the claimants, if there is more than one) reside in Nassau

or Suffolk County?
(Note: A corporation shall be considered a resident of the County in which it has the most significant contacts).

BAR ADMISSION

I am currently admitted in the Eastern District of New York and currently a member in good standing of the bar of this court.
Yes |:| No

Are you currently the subject of any disciplinary action (s) in this or any other state or federal court?
[J Yes (If yes, please explain) No

I certify the accuracy of all information provided above.

/S/'IGOR B. LITVAK, ESQ.

Signature:
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